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[TepiAnyn :

Small port on the northwest coast of the Black Sea until the middle of the 19th century, inhabited by Greeks, Turks, Rumanians,
Bulgarians and Western Europeans. It became an important mercantile-shipping centre, especialy after its annexation to Romania
(1878), due to extensive infrastructure works carried out in the docks. As early as 1862, a significant Greek community lived in
town, operating schools and a church. Constanta was also the place where the association “Elpis” was founded, one of the most
active philanthropic and educational Greek associations in Romania, which constructed one of the first provincial theatres in the
country.

AMleg Ovouaoieg

Kiustenge, Kiustendje, Constantza, Constantia, Kovotévtla
I'eoypapikn O¢on

Northwest coast of the Black Sea

[otopun Tleproyn

Dobruja (Dobrogea in Romanian)

Arorntik] Yroymyn

Constanta prefecture

1. Human Geography

Constanta, known from the antiquity by the name Tomis, is located in southern Dobrudja (Dobrogea in Romanian) on the northwest
coast of the Black Sea, 280 km from Bucharest. North of the city lies the Techirghiol lake, known for its thermal springs. It is
Romania’s only port on the Black Sea, surrounded by plains and steppes. It is connected to the mainland via motorway and railway,

constructed during the final decades of the 19th century.

The city’s name probably originates from the corrupted pronunciation of the Byzantine name “Constantiana”, given in honor of
Constantia, sister of Constantine the Great. The Ottomans used the same name, slightly alternated: K tistence.?

In 1859, Constanta was a small town, with a population of ca. 3,000 residents. Greeks constituted the mgjority of the Christian
population, while the Muslims were divided into two categories, Turks and Tatars. A few Jews, Armenians, Germans and English

were also located there.® The population boomed after 1878 and the annexation of Dobrudja to Romania. Consequently, in 1896
10,419 people lived in Constanta, 2,519 of which were Romanians and 2,416 Greeks, while in 1900 the first had increased to 9,165

and the Greeks only to 2,517.4

From 1906 until the beginning of the Interwar period, many Greeks originating from the Greek communities on the Bulgarian coast of
the Black Sea, like Anchialos, Mesimvria and Sozopoalis, left their homes as a result of anti-Greek persecutions and relocated in
Constanta. That means that the majority of Greeks living in Constanta, in contrast to the rest of the Greeks of Romania, did not

originate from the lonian Islands, like Kephalonia and Ithaca, but hailed from the Black Sea.®

A dense Greek population lived in the city during the Interwar period, despite the fact that many Greeks had been granted Romanian
citizenship. Indicatively, in 1928 in atotal of 41,000 inhabitants, the Greeks amounted to 3,130 constituting the second largest
community in town after the Romanian one (28,700), while Constanta was a so inhabited by many Armenians (2,015), Turks (2,003),

Jews (1,050), and Bulgarians (1,037).
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2. History

In the middle of the 19th century, the maritime and mercantile importance of Constanta was rather small, especially compared to the
other commercia centres of Daobrudja, like Silistriaand Tulcea. The city grew, up to a point, only after the Ottoman authorities
assigned the British “Black Sea and Danube Company” the construction of arailway in the area and the execution of infrastructure

works in the port.”

In 1877 Constanta was conquered by Russian troops and after the decisions taken in the Berlin Conference (1878) it was
permanently ceded to Romania. During the following decades, it experienced a significant financial, demographical and cultural
development. It became capital of the prefecture (judet ) of the same name, as well as seat of other important cultura, military and
financia authorities. The construction of the railway connecting Bucharest and Constanta, the bridge of Cernavoda, as well as the

portal works, also boosted the city’s development.®

During of the period 1916-1918, Constanta, as well as the whole of Dobrudja, was occupied by German-Bulgarian troops and

suffered extensive damage.® The city was re-taken by the Romaniansin 1918. The Interwar period was atime of intense financial and
demographica development, as well as great tension. Economical terms changed, since not only commerce and shipping devel oped,
but also industry and tourism (Mamaia resort). At the same time, however, the greater Dobrudja area was the centre of the Rumanian

fascist movement (the Archangel Michael Legion) and a theatre of violent political conflict.1°

During the Postwar period, and despite the new damage inflicted by the alies and the Soviet air-force, mainly at the port and the city
quarters, Constanta developed as the country’s main maritime, mercantile and shipyard centre. Nowadays, it is the second urban
centre in Romaniain regard to population and economy.

3. Economy

3.1. Agriculture - animal husbandry

The steppes around Constanta were mostly suitable for pasture, activity that had devel oped especially during the Late Ottoman
period, and not really for wheat crops, although that kind of agriculture aso developed, mainly after the annexation of the area to
Romania.

3.2. Manufacturing - industry

For years, the first and only industry in Constanta was a machine work-shop of the English railway company. From the late 19th

century onwards, the city, as well as most of the Romanian ports, showed signs of industrial development, since afew industries were
founded, mainly in the comestibles market (ie. flour, barley purification), as well as small oil refineries. Very few Greek emigrants

invested in the secondary sector of economy. Among the exceptions was V. P. Maroulis, who owned a flour-industry from 1880.11

During the Interwar period, in the context of the city’s genera financial development, the number of industrial sites also increased,
mainly in heavy industry sectors (shipyards, machine work-shops).

3.3. Commerce
The importance of Constanta lay mainly in the role it played in the network of Romania’s commercia centres. Constanta was
essentialy the only seaside port of the country and, consequently, the only one that had constant ship traffic even during the winter,

when the Danubian ports like Tulcea, Braila and Galati were cut-off because of the frozen river.

Initialy, the port operated in a limited manner, because of the inadequacy of storage areas and the fact that the port was not safe.
Gradually, however, and after the great infrastructural works constructed by the Romanian government under the supervision of the
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celebrated mechanic Anghel Saligny (1854-1925), during the last two decades of the 19th century and until World War |, Constanta
became the country’s main oil export centre, an essential import centre, especially concerning colonial products, while it played a

significant part in the distribution of wheat and timber, successfully contesting the Danubian ports.12
4. Society - Institutions - Administration
4.1. Administration

During the Ottoman period, Constanta was a , part of the Tulcea , while after the annexation of Dobrudja to
Romania, it became capital of the prefecture (judet) of the same name.

The Christian Orthodox population of Constanta appear to have acquired some kind of communal rights as early as the beginning of
the 19th century, despite the fact that actual communal institutions were not constituted until the middle of the century, when the first
church was built in town (1862).13 In 1874 the community’s first statute was composed, where it was specified that its highest
authorities would be the council of elders ( ) as well as a four-member committee, while special committees were

founded for ecclesiastical and educational issues. The statute was revised in 1929 and 1938.14

The community had been recognized by the Romanian government de facto from 1880 and de jure since the Greek-Romanian
commercial agreement of 1900.1°

4.2. Social stratification

The Greeks of Constanta belonged to various social strata and practiced many different professions. Many were merchants, both
wholesale merchants exporting and importing colonial products and small-time traders, some were manufacturers, while there were
also various clerks, doctors and lawyers. Naturally, a large proportion of the Greek emigrants belonged to lower strata (seamen, port

workers, factory workers).16

With regard to the communal affairs, aleading group was unofficially formed, consisting of grand-merchants and industridists, as well
as educated members of the bourgeoisie of the city, such as doctors and lawyers. Its most characteristic figure was Alexandros
Tsitsilianopoul os, a grand-merchant from Volos, who served many years as the community’ s president.

4.3. Religion

In 1862, the first wooden Orthodox church of the city, dedicated to the Transfiguration of Christ Savior, was constructed on land
donated by the grand-merchant Oikonomou from Trieste; on the same property the Greek school was also built later. Since the
Transfiguration was the only Orthodox church, it was also frequented by the other Christian Orthodox of Constanta, notably
Bulgarians and Romanians. Moreover, thanks to the contribution of Georgios Zarifis, banker from Constantinople (Istanbul), and K.
Ch. Telesos, the Porte offered the community the land on which a stone church was built during the period 1865-1868. The
construction was made possible thanks to the contribution of the metropolitan of Drystra Dionysius, and especialy thanks to the
archimandrite Philippos Tzoulatis, who gathered donations from Greeks all over Europe, but mainly England (Liverpool, London,
Manchester).

The Greek church remained the only Orthodox one in the city for quite some time. It was not until 1895 that the Romanian cathedral
was built, while in 1907 the Bulgarian church was constructed. For the religious needs of the Protestant and Catholic population,
respective churches were built. Finally, there were two mosques operating in the city, since a significant number of Muslims resided in

Constanta.l’

5. Education
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A Greek school, presumably an al-boys one, had been founded as early as the beginning of the 1860s under the community’s
supervision. At the same time, some other private schools were operating, like the one organised by the scholar Dionysios
Kontogeorgis from Lefkada and his father Panos, ex-professor in the lonian Academy, assisted probably by the director of the

English railway company.!®

However, essential progress for the community’s education was only achieved after the city was annexed by Romania. The schools
that had been closed down during the war (1877-1878) reopened in 1879 and were reorganised from 1881 to 1885 by Dr Antonios
Economou, afuture Professor in Thessaloniki. At the end of the ninth decade of the 19th century, the construction of a two-storey
school building was completed, while a six-class (or even seven-class at times) all-girls elementary school was also operative on a
regular basis. The schools were closed down by degree from the Romanian government only during the period 1905-1908 when the
Greek-Romanian diplomatic relations had ceased, as well as between 1916 and 1918 because of the German-Bulgarian

occupation.1?

During the Interwar period, the Greek community’s administration attempted to ameliorate the level of the offered education in order
to face the heavy competition by public schools. Between 1824 and 1926, two classes of a Commercial School were introduced,
whilein 1934-1953 and until the first post-war years a classical gymnasium was founded, recognized by the Greek government, with

agym and a small library, whose educators had studied in Athens or Constantinople. Children of poor emigrants attended for free.20

Let it be noted here that in Constanta, contrary to was happening in the other important communities in Romania like Braila and
Galati, no “private” Greek schools were founded, probably because alarge proportion of the Greeks there had been granted
Romanian citizenship, hence their children could attend public schools.

From Constanta' s annexation to Romania onwards, a network of public educational establishments gradually developed, including
elementary schools for boys as well as girls, alyceum (the “Mircea cel Batrin”, founded in 1896, that became one of the finest
educational ingtitutions in the country), a Pedagogic College and a higher Commercial Academy for boys (founded in 1903), while a
few private Romanian schools also existed. During the Interwar period, the Romanian public educational system showed signs of even

greater growth, since professional colleges were also founded, such as the Nautical Academy.?!

The Greeks notwithstanding, the city’s other religious of ethnic minorities had founded schools, aimost aways elementary ones.
Consequently, as early as the last decade of the 19th century, schools were operating, usually mixed, for Bulgarians, Armenians and
Germans, as well as Albanians (adult education), while on occasion many Muslim educationa institutions had been organised, as well

as a couple of Jewish ones. 2
6. Associations
During the Late Ottoman period, and in contrast to what the case was in the other Greek communities of Dobrudja, like Sulina or

Tulcea, no Greek associations appear to have been founded in Constanta and educational matters had remained under communal
control.

In 1890, however, the Greek association “Elpis’ (“Hope") was founded. It distinguished itself for the multitude of its activities. It
founded a reading-study and club for the emigrants, while it financially supported on aregular basis the two communal Greek schools.
At the same time, it cared for the city’s poor population “regardless of ethnicity, religion and gender”, according to its statute. 2
Remarkable was also the association’s activity culture-wise. In 1898 it constructed the first theatre in the city, built by the French
architect L. Piver. On its stage, except for amateur theatrical groups consisting of Greek emigrants, plays were performed by troupes
from Greece, amateurs from the rest of the city’s communities and, naturaly, al the Romanian troupes visiting Constanta.

Part of the association also was the “Philanthropic Fellowship of Ladies”, founded in 1915 and systematically involved in helping
indigent emigrants and their children. At last, “child” of the “Elpis” association was the foothall club of the same name, one of the most

celebrated ones in Romania during the Interwar period having won championships.2*
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The importance of the association, whose members were furthermore the most prominent emigrants, was recognized by the
communal statute of 1929, where it was stated that its president became de jure member of the communal council. Moreover, the
most esteemed members of the community involved themselves with the Association, even though during its first years it was

dominated mostly by young, educated Greek emigrants.?®
7. Publishing

During the Ottoman period probably no Greek printing houses existed in Constanta. However, in the decades that followed the
annexation of Dabrudjato Romania, the city became a notable printing centre, not only for Romanian publications, but also Turkish,
Bulgarian and, up to a point, Greek ones as well.

Asearly as 1881, the largest Greek publishing house, the “Typo-lithography of P.M. Pestemaltzioglou” located in Bréila, had founded
abranch in Constanta, while Greek books were also printed by Romanian printing houses (“Dimitriu Nicolagscu™). From the
beginning of the 20th century, the printing house-bookstore of Ch. Vourlis (“Ovidius’) also operated.?® Greek publishing activity
intensified during the Interwar period, when some journals and calendars were also printed, as well as quite a few books. The most
celebrated journal of literary context was Thaleia (1923-1924), published under the direction of the local scholar Ektor Sarafidis.
Some of the Romanian newspapers, however, were also published by Greeks, like Dobrogea Juna, one of the most significant and
long-lived newspapers of the area (1904-1944), directed by Constantin N. Sarry.?’ The status attributed to newspapers published by
Greeks indicates the high degree of their integration in the local community.
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[Nwocdp1o :
dimogerontia

Communal authority consisting of the elected community officials, known as archontes (potentates), proestoi (notables), epitropoi (wardens),
dimogerontes or simply gerontes (elders).

kaymakamlik

Ottoman administrative unit that replaced the kaza during the late Ottoman Period, after the administrative reforms of 1864.
midurl ik

Small administrative unit in the late Ottoman Empire, subdistrict of a kaymakamlik, under the jurisdiction of a mudiir.
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[Mopadépata

From the Regulations of the Greek Community in Constanta, 1929

KEPAAAION A’

Y KOTOC

Apbp. Tov - H EAAnvikn Kowotne Kwvotavting anagtilopévn €k maviwv tov évtavba eykateotnuévwv EAAvwv oromov €xet:
a) Tryv ovvtienowy, Aoiknoty, Awxxeiptow kat BeAticvoty To0 Tegov AUt Naov «H Metapogdwats», aveyvwoloévov 6vTog we
NOwov (voukov) Ipoodmov HV7to 1oL Povpavicod Kodtoug dux tov amno 19n¢ AekeuBoiov Tov 1900 eidikov, petald EAA&dOS Kol
Povpaviag mowTokOAAOL HETA TWV EKTIAWDEVTIKAOV, PLAEKTADEVTIKOV KAl PLAAVOQWTIKOV DQUUATWY WS KAl TAONS THS
maEovoNG kal HeAAOVONC KIVNTAG Te Kat akwviitov Avtig ITeglovoing kat

) Tr)v EAAnvomeem) 10KV KAl KOLVWVIKT|V TOOAYWYT)V TOV HEADV AVTHG, €vTog TV 0plwv v Povpavikwv Nopwv.

A00. 20v —ITag "EAANV émidietiav duapeivag év T TOAEL TaUTH) Kal EyKATEOTNUEVOS EVTatOa, EEaok@V EVTLUOV TL EMAYYEAUQ,
gyyoadetat avtodukaiwg eig 10 Mntowov ¢ Kowvotntog kat Oewoeltat péAog avtig.

Source: Kavoviouoc tne ev Kwvotavtln eAAnvikng kowdtntoc (Constanta 1929), p. 3.

Bon6. Katdrioyot

Presidents of the Greek Community of Constanta
D. Benderlis, 1863

Menelaos Negrepontis, 1864

Filippos Tzoulatis, 1865

Nikolaos Makris, 1866

Nikolaos Syllavotianos, 1867

Parth. Kanakis, 1868

N. D. Sotiropoulos, 1869-1870

D. Neokosmos, 1871

Dimitrios Iordanou, 1872-1873

Georgios Karydias (from Varna), 1874-1880
Dimitrios Alexandridis, 1881

Ioannis Makris, 1882-1885
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Alexandros Tsitsilianopoulos (from Volos), 1885-1908

Ioannis Psaraftis and Nik. Kopsidas (from Constantinople), 1908-1909
Andr. Georgiadis, 1909

Lask. Laskaridis, 1910-1912

Stamos Mavrogiannis, 1913

Spyr. Makris, 1914-1916

Dim. Svoronos, 1918

Georgios Papazoglou, 1920-1931

Source: Mdveong, Lt., «H eAAnvucr) kowvétng Kwvotavting Povuaviag», Mélanges offerts a Octave et Melpo Merlier II (Athens 1952), p.
108.



